### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 97,043

JAMES FLOYD

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PAMELA H. IZAKOWITZ
Assistant CCRC
Florida Bar No. 0053856
CAPITAL COLLATERAL
REGIONAL COUNSEL - SOUTH
303 S. Westland Avenue
P.O. Box 3294
Tampa, FL 33606
(813) 259-4424

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves an appeal of the circuit court's summary denial of Rule 3.850 relief. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

James Floyd was charged by indictment dated March 6, 1984, with one count of first-degree murder and related offenses (R. 6-7). He pled not guilty. After a jury trial, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts on August 23, 1984 (R. 883-885). The next day, August 24, 1984, the jury recommended death by a vote of seven (7) to five (5).

On August 27, 1984, the trial court imposed a sentence of death on the count of first-degree murder and consecutive sentences of five (5) years imprisonment on each of the nine related counts (R. 950-951). A sentencing order was entered on August 28, 1984 (R. 107-108).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Floyd's convictions, but overturned his sentence of death because: (a) the trial court improperly found the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor; (b) the trial court improperly found the murder to prevent arrest aggravating factor; and (c) and the trial court failed to instruct the jury adequately about nonstatutory mitigating factors. Floyd v. State, 497 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 1986).

Mr. Floyd's second sentencing hearing was held on January 12-14, 1988 before Circuit Court Judge Richard A. Luce. On January 14, 1988, the jury by a vote of eight (8) to four (4) returned a recommendation of death (RS. 1039).

On February 29, 1988, the trial court imposed a death sentence. In sentencing Mr. Floyd to death, Judge Luce said his personal belief was that the Florida Supreme Court incorrectly prevented him from doubling aggravators (RS. 1066); the Florida Supreme Court was incorrect in specifically finding that the murder to prevent arrest aggravating factor was not present in this case (RS. 1066); and that the Florida Supreme Court was incorrect in finding that the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor was not present in this case (RS. 1068-1069). The trial judge said he would ignore these aggravating factors, notwithstanding his personal opinions. The trial court then said that although he found that Mr. Floyd demonstrated some remorse, a desire to live within the rules of his current prison sentence, and a desire to establish a rapport with his children, these did not qualify as the type of mitigation contemplated (RS. 1071).

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Floyd's second sentence of death, <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 1990); <u>cert. denied</u>, 111 S.Ct. 2912 (1991). In its opinion, this Court noted that the trial court found and considered mitigating circumstances, but found that they did not outweigh the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The trial court failed to mention the non-statutory mitigation that the Florida Supreme Court found to exist in Mr. Floyd's first case - the death of Mr. Floyd's father a year earlier; his childhood with an alcoholic mother; the fact that he was a parent of two small children; and the plea for mercy from the victim's daughter. Floyd v. State, 497 So. 2d 1211, 1212 (Fla. 1986).

aggravating circumstances. Id. at 123.

Mr. Floyd's initial Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 motion was filed on August 17, 1992, one year before it was due. The motion was signed by counsel, but unverified (PC-R. 1-25). Two months later, on October 6, 1992, after numerous State agencies failed to comply with public records, Mr. Floyd filed a motion to compel (PC-R. 26-32). The State did not respond in any way and the Circuit Court took no action on Mr. Floyd's Rule 3.850 motion.

The Florida Supreme Court then issued <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 627 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1993), which held that the verification requirement of Rule 3.850 applied to capital cases. Although the State made no effort to have Mr. Floyd's motion dismissed pursuant to <u>Anderson</u>, Mr. Floyd filed his verification on May 2, 1994 (PC-R. 1, 65). Neither the State nor the circuit court took any action on Mr. Floyd's 3.850 motion.

On August 1, 1994, Mr. Floyd filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion, reasserting the State's non-compliance with Chapter 119 (PC-R. 66-168). On November 28, 1995, the circuit court entered an order requiring a status hearing on Mr. Floyd's case (PC-R. 208-209). On April 12, the State moved to strike Mr. Floyd's amended Rule 3.850 as unverified, arguing that the original motion was unverified, notwithstanding the May 2, 1994 verification (PC-R. 211-212).

At a status hearing May 7, 1996, the court asked whether the

amended Rule 3.850 motion had to be verified (PC-R. 886-887). The court said it was not considering a motion to dismiss, but that it wanted to sort out a "procedural quagmire" (PC-R. 887). Mr. Floyd's counsel argued that only the original motion had to be verified, and that it was verified (PC-R. 211-212; 887). The court said it did not see whether either motion had been properly verified (PC-R. 890). Counsel for Mr. Floyd asked whether the court was dismissing Mr. Floyd's petition under Anderson as unverified and indicated that if that was the case, Mr. Floyd would simply file a verified pleading (PC-R. 907). The court did not enter an order dismissing Mr. Floyd's Rule 3.850 motion, stating that it was only making an observation (PC-R. 908).

The court asked about Mr. Floyd's public records claim.

After discussion, it was agreed that the State Attorney would submit materials that it claimed were exempt to the court for an in camera inspection. Counsel for Mr. Floyd told the court that other state agencies also failed to comply with Chapter 119 requests. The court ordered Mr. Floyd to provide the State with the Chapter 119 requests he had already made to these agencies and for the State to "investigate" (PC-R. 905-906).

Mr. Floyd complied with the court order. The State did not (PC-R. 272). At an October 9, 1996 status hearing, the court said it would enter an order granting the State's motion to strike the 3.850 motion because of lack of verification, despite

the May 2,1994 verification (PC-R. 920; 926). Although the State conceded that the public records issue remained, the court specifically refused to resolve the Chapter 119 issue (PC-R. 925). On the day <u>after</u> the status conference, October 10, 1996, the State filed 466 pages of public records "investigation" that had not been previously disclosed to counsel(PC-R. 362-830).

Six days later, the court entered an order striking Mr. Floyd's motions and declining to address the public records issues at all(PC-R. 832-833). The order was mailed to Mr. Floyd the same day he filed his supplemental verification, October 16, 1996. (PC-R. 166-168; 834-836). Mr. Floyd filed a motion for rehearing and reinstatement, asserting that the original motion had been verified and that the amended motion had been verified (PC-R. 837-838). The circuit court denied the motion for rehearing and reinstatement.

Mr. Floyd filed a notice of appeal to the Florida Supreme Court. Briefs were submitted. This Court dismissed Mr. Floyd's appeal without prejudice for the defendant to file a properly verified Rule 3.850 motion on September 4, 1997.

On October 21, 1997, the CCRC Middle Region filed a Notice of Conflict of Interest requesting that another CCRC office be designated counsel for Mr. Floyd. The trial court struck the notice for failing to sufficiently allege reasons for the conflict. This Court ordered that the Southern Region of CCRC be

designated to represent Mr. Floyd. On March 11, 1998, the trial court entered an order designating CCRC-Southern Region to represent Mr. Floyd.

Mr. Floyd filed a properly verified Amended Rule 3.850 motion on April 9, 1998, in which Mr. Floyd outlined the state agencies that had not complied with public records requests. The trial court ordered counsel for Mr. Floyd to identify all agencies and documents not received. On July 10, 1998, counsel for Mr. Floyd outlined in detail the public records still outstanding. On July 14, 1998, Judge Luce ordered the state agencies who had not complied with public records to do so.

On November 13, 1998, Mr. Floyd filed a Third Amended Rule 3.850 motion, raising nineteen claims.

A <u>Huff</u> hearing occurred on January 29, 1999 (PC-R. 1009-1053). On March 2, 1999, the Court entered an order summarily denying thirteen (13) of Mr. Floyd's claims and ordered the State to show cause why Mr. Floyd was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his remaining six (6) claims. On April 16, 1999, the State filed its Response to Order to Show Cause. On July 21, 1999, the court issued a 13-page order summarily denying Mr. Floyd an evidentiary hearing on any and all of his claims. On August 2, 1999, counsel for Mr. Floyd filed a Motion to Set Aside and/or Reconsider Order Denying Defendant's Third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence, arguing that the

trial court relied on <u>ex parte</u> communication with the State

Attorney to deny Mr. Floyd relief. Mr. Floyd also filed a Motion
to Disqualify Judge based on the improper conduct of the State
and the judge. The trial court denied all of Mr. Floyd's motions
(PC-R. 935). Mr. Floyd timely filed a Notice of Appeal (PC-R.
937). This appeal follows.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The following records have not been included in the record on appeal in this case and are required for proper consideration of this case: Mr. Floyd's Third Amended Rule 3.850 motion; March 2,1999 Order Denying Defendant's third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgements of Conviction and Sentence in Part and Order to Show Cause; July 21, 1999 Order Denying Defendant's third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence, and the Court's Exhibits A-F.

Counsel is filing a Motion to Supplement the Record contemporaneous with the Initial Brief.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- 1. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Floyd's amended 3.850 motion. The lower court failed to accept the allegations as true and denied relief. Trial counsel failed to adequately investigate and prepare for the penalty phase. Mr. Floyd has an IQ of 51, which is in the mentally retarded range, as well as organic brain damage. Trial counsel never had his client examined by a mental health expert. Mr. Floyd was diagnosed as mentally retarded when he was 15 by the Pinellas County school psychologists. This information was easily found in Mr. Floyd's school records. Trial counsel failed to present evidence of Mr. Floyd's good prison record; failed to object to the State's improperly removing a juror based on race; and failed to request additional peremptory challenges. At the guilt phase, trial counsel failed to investigate the case; failed to challenge the State's witnesses; failed to retain blood and hair experts; and failed to investigate any mental health issues as they related to specific intent.
- 2. The State withheld exculpatory evidence that showed that two white men were seen entering the victim's home around the time police said she was murdered. This information was never turned over to defense counsel, in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>.
  - 3. Judge Luce should have disqualified himself from the

Rule 3.850 proceedings. Mr. Floyd had a reasonable fear that the judge could not be fair and impartial due to an <u>ex parte</u> communication with the State Attorney. Because an evidentiary hearing is warranted in this case, this case should be remanded for a hearing before an impartial judge.

- 4. The trial court failed to find mitigation in the record and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object.
- 5. The State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct and trial counsel failed to object.
- 6. Public records remain outstanding. The court refused to order the State to turn over records that may have exculpated Mr. Floyd in the murder.
- 7. Trial counsel failed to object to constitutional error during the penalty phase, including jury instructions, <u>Caldwell</u> error, and burden-shifting error.
- 8. Florida's death penalty statute violates the Eighth Amendment on its face and as applied to Mr. Floyd.

#### ARGUMENT I -- ERRONEOUS SUMMARY DENIAL

#### A. IMPROPER SUMMARY DENIAL.

The lower court summarily denied all of Mr. Floyd's claims, including significant allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The lower court's ruling was premised on the erroneous belief that allegations pled in the Rule 3.850 were already presented at Mr. Floyd's penalty phase. As the court said, "The theme of Defendant's mitigation evidence was that the Defendant was basically a good, responsible, nonviolent person, with a solid work record, who came from a troubled home (because of his mother's alcoholism) and that he fell apart after the death of his father, possibly becoming involved in drugs." (July 21, 1999 Order Denying Relief at 4). The court also said that the evidence presented in Mr. Floyd's penalty phase is "inconsistent with, and directly refutes, Defendant's current claims of mental illness or retardation." (July 21, 1999 Order Denying Relief at This is the incorrect standard for assessing this claim. See, Freeman v. State, WL 2000 728622, 6 (Fla. June 8, 2000).

The lower court completely ignored facts pled in the Rule 3.850 motion. The files and records in this case do not conclusively rebut Mr. Floyd's allegations, and Mr. Floyd is entitled to an evidentiary hearing before an impartial judge.

## B. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Counsel has "a duty to bring to bear such skill and

knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). An attorney is charged with the responsibility of knowing the law and presenting legal argument in accord with the applicable principles of law. See, e.g., Garcia v. State, 622 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993); Nero v. Blackburn, 597 F.2d 991 (5th Cir. 1979); Beach v. Blackburn, 631 F.2d 1168 (5th Cir. 1980); Herring v. Estelle, 491 F.2d 125, 129 (5th Cir. 1974); Lovett v. Florida, 627 F. 2d 706, 709 (5th Cir. 1980). Counsel rendered prejudicially deficient performance, and a hearing is warranted.

In Mr. Floyd's resentencing, substantial mitigating evidence, both statutory and nonstatutory, went undiscovered and was not presented. An unreliable death sentence was the resulting prejudice. As confidence in the result is undermined, relief is appropriate. Strickland v. Washington; Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1995).

The lower court erred as a matter of fact and law in denying an evidentiary hearing on the penalty phase allegations and failed to accept the allegations pled in the 3.850 motion as true. The court found that Mr. Floyd failed to show prejudice and that the "evidence presented during the penalty phase is inconsistent with, and directly refutes, Defendant's current claims of mental illness or retardation." (July 21,1999 Order Denying Relief at 5). The reason why the evidence presented at

the penalty phase was "inconsistent" with what was alleged in the Rule 3.850, is because trial counsel failed to discover it. Trial counsel's failure to investigate and find compelling mitigating evidence is precisely the reason why Mr. Floyd is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this claim. Mr. Floyd's allegations cannot be rebutted by the records.

The lower court's conclusions are unsupported. The manner in which Mr. Floyd set forth his extensive factual allegations is consistent with numerous other cases where this Court has remanded for evidentiary hearings. See, e.g. Ragsdale v. State, \_ 720 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1998); Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999); Freeman v. State, 2000 WL 7286232 (Fla.) (June 8, 2000); and Arbelaez v. State, 2000 WL 963175 (Fla.) (July 13, 2000).

#### Ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase

Mr. Floyd is mentally retarded. When he was 15 years old and in the eighth grade, he was diagnosed as mentally retarded by psychologists with the Pinellas County schools. James had an IQ of 51, which places him in the mentally retarded range. James was academically years behind his peers. At age 15, when he should have been in the tenth grade, his grade level was at the third grade level. He missed weeks of school. Though incapable of performing anywhere near his grade level, James was promoted only to move him along so he would not stand out worse than he already did. School records show James was "below average" and

"slow" in all areas of school. James desperately tried to fit in and be a normal kid. No matter how hard he tried, he was ridiculed by his peers. Because of his mental limitations, he did not develop the social skills needed to survive.

The school records, which show that Mr. Floyd was diagnosed as mentally retarded when he was 15, were not discovered by trial counsel and never presented at the penalty phase. Had trial counsel conducted a thorough investigation into Mr. Floyd's background, counsel would have discovered that his client's history contained compelling mitigation. Had counsel adequately prepared and discharged his Sixth Amendment duties, overwhelming mitigating evidence would have precluded a sentence of death in this case. Evidence about Mr. Floyd's character and background, his early life marked by abandonment, abuse, emotional and educational deprivation, fetal alcohol syndrome, and his alcohol and drug dependency was inadequately investigated, considered, and presented by counsel. There was no tactical reason for not presenting this information to the jury and judge when the information was so easy to find and none offered in the record before the 3.850 court.

Mr. Floyd's mother was a severe alcoholic who neglected her children emotionally and physically. She often left her small children to fend for themselves, without stable adult supervision. Pinkie Floyd was incapable of providing even the

minimal amount of parental care for James.

Pinkie Floyd gave birth to James Floyd, the fourth of sixth children, in St. Petersburg, Florida, on July 25, 1960. Pinkie was a long-term alcoholic. She drank heavily during the critical stages of James' fetal development. His father, Johnny Floyd, Sr., was hard working, but had a quick and explosive temper. He repeatedly placed unreasonable demands on Pinkie and the children while tolerating nothing short of perfection. He also was a jealous man and demanded that everything be in place. Johnny Floyd, Sr. was unable to verbally communicate with his wife and children. However, he also was the type of man who would suddenly explode into violent anger.

Pinkie was born on a small farm in Georgia, where her family grew peanuts, tobacco, corn, peas, and beans. She was forced to quit school in the fourth grade so she could help with the family farm. Her family was unable to provide stability. She started drinking alcohol at age twelve. She was given her first drink by a local moonshine producer. It was not long before Pinkie began making trips to the neighborhood liquor house - the "hothouse" - for her daily pint of mash. This was the start of a very long and destructive battle with alcohol.

While still a teenager, Pinkie married fellow drinking partner Lawrence Rose. Although they had three children, Pinkie was incapable of forming a bond with them. Her abnormal

childhood and early involvement with alcohol left Pinkie desensitized and detached. Pinkie separated from Lawrence and abandoned her children. She left Georgia and moved to St. Petersburg in the 1950s. In 1959, she met a bus station porter named Johnny Floyd, Sr. Pinkie agreed to marry Johnny. They immediately started having children - six altogether.

The financial demands of raising a family kept Johnny away from the home for extended periods of time. Pinkie became the primary caretaker of the children. Pinkie's alcohol consumption accelerated at an alarming rate. Pinkie's drinking never allowed for a normal life. From the time James was a young child, Pinkie's sloppy-drunk conduct became a regular happening. She was unable to dress or feed the children.

Pinkie's inebriated attempts to prepare a meal for the children often resulted in kitchen fires. Pinkie grew frustrated with the demands of child care and entered in various extramarital affairs -- often with the children present. The long-term affects of alcoholism revealed a mean, violent and hateful Pinkie. Not only was she unable to care for the children's physical needs but she battered their emotional development as well. Pinkie often told James that he was unwanted and hated. Pinkie mercilessly pounded into James' head that he was an unloved child who was nothing more than a burden.

Johnny struggled to provide a decent and positive

environment for his children. However, Pinkie's alcoholism sent him over the edge. When he returned home from work, Johnny violently confronted Pinkie's drinking. He exploded into a violent rage. These fights were often bloody and violent. Pinkie often had to receive medical treatment for the gashes, bruises and cuts that she would receive from her husband.

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