# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES FLOYD,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC97043

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
Phone: (813) 873-4739
Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Unsubstantiated, conclusory allegations of an improper ex parte communication do not require judicial disqualification. See, <u>Valle</u>, 705 So. 2d at 1334 (insufficient allegation of ex parte communication where judge and prosecutor were seen leaving chambers together during trial). A factual basis for disqualification is insufficient where it relies on speculation or a subjective fear of impartiality. <u>5-H Corporation v. Padovano</u>, 708 So. 2d 244, 248 (Fla. 1998); <u>Fischer v. Knuck</u>, 497 So. 2d 240, 242 (Fla. 1986).

Floyd's reliance on Rose v. State, 601 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1992) and State v. Riechmann, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S163 (Fla. Feb. 24, 2000), is misplaced. In Rose, the State initially responded to a postconviction motion, conceding that an evidentiary hearing would be necessary. Thereafter, the State submitted a proposed order, not provided to Rose's attorney, summarily denying all relief, which was adopted in its entirety by the trial court. In the instant case, the State did not change its position or offer a substantive order for the court's consideration, it merely supplied supporting documents from the appellate record, referenced in but omitted from its initial response. Riechmann is also easily distinguished, since it involved an established ex parte communication where the trial judge directed the State to provide a sentencing order without even identifying which aggravating and mitigating factors the court would apply, an action which would be

improper even if no ex parte communication had occurred. Thus, neither of these cases provide any support for Floyd's current claim.

The court below properly denied the motion to disqualify, and no relief is warranted on this issue.

#### ISSUE IV

# WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING FLOYD'S CLAIM THAT THE SENTENCING JUDGE FAILED TO FIND MITIGATION.

Floyd's next issue was properly rejected as procedurally barred (3/2/99 Order, p. 6). Floyd contends that the trial court failed to properly consider and find mitigating factors allegedly established by the evidence. It has long been the law in this State that claims which could have been, should have been, or were raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in a motion to vacate filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. <u>v. State</u>, 742 So. 2d 215 (Fla. 1999); <u>Ragsdale</u>, 720 So. 2d at 205, n. 2; <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 316, 322 (Fla. 1991); <u>Engle v.</u> State, 576 So. 2d 696, 699 (Fla. 1991); Roberts, 568 So. 2d at 1258; Meeks v. State, 382 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1155 (1983). Clearly, the trial court's consideration of (or failure to consider) mitigating evidence is a matter to be raised on direct appeal. See, Shere, 742 So. 2d at 218 (claim that trial judge failed to adequately consider mitigation was procedurally barred); Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1016, n. 9 (Fla. 1999); <u>LeCroy</u>, 727 So. 2d at 241, n. 11; <u>Harvey v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); <u>Jennings</u>, 583 So. 2d at 322; <u>Engle v.</u> State, 576 So. 2d at 702. In fact, this claim was raised and rejected in Floyd's resentencing appeal. Floyd, 569 So. 2d at Therefore, this claim is procedurally barred, and Floyd

cannot obtain collateral relief on this point.

#### ISSUE V

## WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING FLOYD'S CLAIM OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Floyd's next claim alleges prosecutorial misconduct based on the State's penalty phase closing argument as well as allegedly using Greg Anderson as a State agent. The claim of misconduct from the State's closing argument was properly rejected as procedurally barred. Claims of prosecutorial misconduct that are derived from the record must be raised on direct appeal. Although the court below found this argument to be procedurally barred, Floyd has not even attempted to identify any error in that ruling (7/21/99) Order, pp. 12-13). The finding of a procedural bar was proper. Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1998); <u>Haliburton v. State</u>, 691 So. 2d 466, 472 (Fla. 1997). Floyd's attempt to avoid a procedural bar by alleging that counsel was ineffective for failing to litigate this claim must be rejected as well. Robinson, 707 So. 2d at 697-98 (improper to litigate barred, substantive postconviction proceedings under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel). Thus, to the extent Floyd attempts to recast the claim as one of ineffective assistance of counsel, he cannot revive the barred issue. Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So. 2d 263, 265 (Fla. 1996); Cherry, 659 So. 2d at 1072; Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990).

In addition, Floyd's claim is without merit. Floyd has failed to establish that the Sixth Amendment was violated by the lack of

an objection to the prosecutor's argument. When the entire argument is read in context, it is clear that no objectionable statements were made. As the court below found, Floyd's "cut and pasted quotes lifted from the record misrepresent the total content of the State's closing argument" (7/21/99 Order, p. 12).

Floyd has recited isolated comments from the closing argument and suggests that the comments improperly offer lack of remorse as an aggravating factor; argue cold, calculated and premeditated after that factor had been struck by this Court; and rely on victim information to inflame the jury. However, a review of the prosecutor's argument, in context, demonstrates that the comments why Mrs. Anderson's recited merely explain murder conscienceless and pitiless, and therefore within the definition of heinous, atrocious or cruel. See, Muehleman v. State, 503 So. 2d 310, 317 (Fla.) (comments may have excited passions but were highly relevant in establishing aggravating factors), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 882 (1987).

Furthermore, even if the prosecutor's comments in this case were deemed to be improper, the failure to object did not demonstrate ineffectiveness, since the challenged remarks did not become a feature of the trial. See, <u>Sims v. State</u>, 602 So. 2d 1253, 1257 (Fla. 1992) (rejecting claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object to Golden Rule violation), <u>cert. denied</u>, 506 U.S. 1065 (1993); <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 130,

133 (Fla. 1985) (prosecutor's penalty phase closing argument, including Golden Rule violation, not egregious enough to warrant new sentencing), cert. denied, 497 U.S. 1044 (1990). In this case, the prosecutor's closing argument comprises twelve pages of transcript (RS. V7/985-997). Floyd has noted isolated comments from the argument; however, reading the comments in context demonstrates the propriety of the argument as outlined above.

This was a deplorable offense involving two strong aggravating circumstances (one of which was merged from two factors). Floyd has not shown that the prosecutor's argument was improper; but even if some of the statements were improper, they did not rise to the level of reversible error since they were not a feature of the trial. On these facts, any objection would not have made any difference in the outcome of the penalty phase. Thus, Floyd cannot establish either a deficient performance or prejudice based on his attorney's failure to object to the prosecutor's closing penalty phase argument.

Floyd also alleges misconduct in the State's failure to disclose that witness Greg Anderson was a State agent. In this regard, Floyd's claim that Anderson was placed in Floyd's cell and coached to elicit incriminating statements was directly refuted by trial and resentencing testimony. Anderson himself was extensively cross examined, and flatly denied that he sought out Floyd's statements or acted on behalf of the State (DA. V5/736-784; RS.

V6/780-805). St. Petersburg Police Detective Ralph Pflieger also testified about the circumstances of Anderson's contacting him about Floyd's statements (DA. V5/800-807). Floyd has not offered any reason to question the sworn testimony of these witnesses with regard to this issue.

On these facts, no evidentiary hearing was warranted, and Floyd is not entitled to any relief.

#### ISSUE VI

### WHETHER FLOYD IS ENTITLED TO ADDITIONAL PUBLIC RECORDS.

Floyd's next claim alleges that he was denied his right to disclosure of public records when the State failed to provide information in its possession on suspect Lionel Renard Flemming. Incredibly, Floyd's argument on this issue neglects to mention that the State in fact made these records available for Floyd's counsel's review ten days after the records were requested, and that counsel for Floyd in fact reviewed these records two months later, on December 15, 1998. A proper analysis of this claim requires a review of the relevant facts, which unfortunately are not provided in Floyd's brief.

The record reflects that in 1992, the State Attorney's Office provided about 1800 pages of public records in response to a request from Floyd's counsel (PC. V1/954). Six years later, on October 13, 1998, Floyd requested additional public records from the State Attorney's Office and the St. Petersburg Police Department (Ex. 1). Specifically, Floyd requested any and all records on four individuals: Lionel Renard Flemming, Dwayne Walton, Darryl Murphy, and Kim V. Walker. The State Attorney's Office responded on October 23, 1998, indicating that although the State objected to any delay in the postconviction proceedings for disclosure of these records because they were not relevant to Floyd's case, the records would be produced and were available for

review during office hours; counsel was requested to provide 48 hours notice in scheduling the records review (Ex. 2). The State's response also indicated that some of the records were being withheld pursuant to specific exemptions codified in Chapter 119, as outlined in the response. The State also filed an objection to the disclosure pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.852(a)(1) on the grounds of relevancy and requested a hearing (Ex. 3). Floyd's counsel filed a Response to the State's objection, which is essentially mirrored in the argument now presented in his brief (Ex. 4).

On November 13, 1998, Floyd filed his Third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences, the denial of which is the subject of this appeal. On November 20, 1998, the trial court held a hearing pursuant to the State's objection and request for hearing (PC. V1/950-961). At that time, the State noted that these records had been made available, subject to the outlined exemptions, but that counsel had never contacted the prosecutor to schedule a time to review the records (PC. V1/952-53). The State clarified that it was not objecting to disclosure of these records, since they in fact had been disclosed a month earlier, but the objection was to any additional delay in the proceedings (PC. V1/954). Counsel for Floyd acknowledged that the State had made the records available, but that she had not reviewed them because she "didn't want to do anything until we had this hearing." (PC.

V1/956). The trial court found that the State had fulfilled its duty, but directed the State to continue to make these records available for another thirty days, cautioning counsel that if she did not review the records within that time, it would appear to the court that she was waiving any right to view or use the records (PC. V1/956-57). The court also, with the agreement of the parties, accepted the withheld documents outlined in the State's response for an in camera inspection (PC. V1/959). The court specifically declined to make a ruling as to the relevancy of the records requested (PC. V1/956).

Floyd's counsel reviewed the records on December 15, 1998, but at the <u>Huff</u> hearing on January 29, 1999, still could not identify any potential postconviction claim available from these records (PC. V1/1016-17). Even in the appellate brief, counsel has not identified any relevant or significant information from the records reviewed, choosing instead to argue to this Court simply that these records must be relevant and should be disclosed.

Following an in camera inspection of the records submitted, the court below entered an order upholding the withheld documents as legally exempt (Ex. 5). With regard to Lionel Flemming, the exemptions claimed and found were: some records were destroyed pursuant to Section 119.041(1); victim's information pursuant to Section 119.07(3)(s); FDLE arrest history records pursuant to Section 943.053; juvenile records pursuant to Sections 39.12 and

985.04(3)(a); grand jury proceedings pursuant to Section 905.27(1); and attorney work product which did not meet the definition of public records under Chapter 119 (Ex. 2, 5). Since the trial judge complied with all applicable law regarding public records requests by examining all withheld records in camera and no claim has been made with regard to the trial court's order upholding the exemptions, no basis for relief as to failure to disclose any records on Lionel Flemming has been offered. See, Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 206 (trial judge's in camera review complied with all applicable public records requirements). Thus, Floyd's current claim of entitlement to additional public records must be rejected.

#### ISSUE VII

## WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIMS.

Floyd's allegation of constitutional error with regard to several jury instruction issues was clearly procedurally barred and Jury instruction claims are classic appellate without merit. issues, since they are obviously reflected in the transcript of the trial, and therefore must be challenged on direct appeal. Gorham <u>v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988). Thus, claims relating to jury instructions are consistently rejected in collateral proceedings as they should be raised both at trial and on direct appeal. See, <u>Downs v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 506, 509, n. 4, 5 (Fla. 1999) (rejecting same burden shifting claim presented herein); Teffeteller, 734 So. 2d at 1016, n. 9 (same); Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 205, n. 2; Jennings, 583 So. 2d at 322; see also, Johnston v. <u>Dugger</u>, 583 So. 2d 657, 662-663, n. 2 (Fla. 1991); <u>Gorham</u>, 521 So. 2d at 1070 ("Because a claim of error regarding the instructions given by the trial court should have been raised on direct appeal, the issue is not cognizable through collateral attack"). again, any attempt to revive this claim as one of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot succeed. Robinson, 707 So. 2d at 697-98; <u>Johnson</u>, 695 So. 2d at 265; <u>Cherry</u>, 659 So. 2d Medina, 573 So. 2d at 295. Floyd does not even attempt to explain why this claim should be subject to consideration at this time.

In addition, Floyd's claims are clearly without merit. See,

Floyd, 569 So. 2d at 1232 (finding sufficient evidence to support finding of heinous, atrocious or cruel); Johnston, 583 So. 2d at 662-663, n. 2 (rejecting claims that defense counsel's failure to properly litigate Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985), issue during the trial and direct appeal amount to ineffective assistance of counsel); Gorham, 521 So. 2d at 1070 (same); Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291, 297 (Fla. 1993); Mendyk, 592 So. 2d at 1080-1081; <u>Provenzano</u>, 561 So. 2d at 545; <u>Archer v. State</u>, 673 So. 2d 17, 21 (Fla.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 876 (1996) (Florida standard jury instructions adequately describe role to jury); Pope v. Wainwright, 496 So. 2d 798, 805 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 480 U.S. 951 (1987); Preston v. State, 531 So. 2d 154, 160 (Fla. 1988) (no merit to claim that instructions improperly shift burden of proof); <u>Arango v. State</u>, 411 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla.) (same), <u>cert.</u> denied, 457 U.S. 1140 (1982). Notably, the resentencing court granted several defense requests for special jury instructions, including an expanded definition of heinous, atrocious or cruel (RS. V7/968-971, 1025); an instruction on the jury's role in sentencing (RS. V7/965-66, 1030), and an enhanced instruction on nonstatutory mitigation (RS. V7/971-972, 1026-1027). Clearly, no jury instruction error has been demonstrated, and no relief is warranted on this issue.

#### **ISSUE VIII**

# WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING FLOYD'S CLAIM THAT FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

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